IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. 87,617

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

The Florida Bar File Nos. 95-7 1,003 (11A) 95-71,308 (11A) 96-70,207 (11A)

VS.

ANDREW MICHAEL KASSIER,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF AND ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, ANDREW MICHAEL KASSIER

JEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. 407 Biscayne Building
19 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33 130
Tele.: (305)377-2356
Fla. Bar No. 113699

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Bar's statement of the case is correct. **The** Respondent rejects the Bar's statement of the facts, which is incomplete and in at least one instance incorrect. The following are the facts:

Circuit Judge Rodolfo **Sorondo**¹ testified. He sits in the Criminal Division (T.6). He was admitted to practice in 1979. He was with the State Attorney's **Office** as a certified legal intern and then as an assistant state attorney. He was in private practice doing primarily criminal defense work **from** 1981 until 1992 when the Governor appointed him to the Circuit bench (T.7).

He has known Mr. Kassier for about ten years (T.7). Mr. Kassier has appeared before him many times. Mr. Kassier litigated many motions and similar matters before him. He tried a case before him. He knows Mr. Kassier and his reputation (T.8).

He has always been able to rely upon anything Mr. Kassier tells him. He can take to the bank what Mr. Kassier says. Mr. Kassier is not dilatory in anything that he does. When he says that there is a problem one can be sure that the problem exists. He is an honest man and an honest lawyer (T. 10). His reputation is that he is a very honest lawyer and that is recognized by Judge Sorondo's colleagues (T. 10).

Mr. Kassier is an outstanding attorney (T.10-11). His legal and professional reputation is outstanding (T. 11). He takes cases that no one else wants: the murder cases,

¹ Now District Judge Sorondo.

the unpopular causes, the people who are very difficult to deal with, people whom other lawyers are afraid even to meet. He has done more capital litigation probably than any other lawyer in the system. The judges turn to him for these very **difficult** cases on a regular basis, cases which routinely are turned down by many lawyers (T. 11).

He selected Mr. Kassier for a particular case even though the wheel system was established for court appointment of attorneys. There are four wheels, one for Third Degree Felonies, one for Second Degree Felonies, one for First Degree Felonies and Life Felonies, and one that is exclusively for capital cases. The Committee sets up standards and each lawyer submits his or her credentials and the Committee determines the number of wheels an attorney can serve on and whether they can serve on the capital wheel. It is very difficult to get on the wheel. He thinks that Mr. Kassier is on all wheels. He knows him from being on the capital wheel (T, 12).

This particular case was a First Degree Murder of a North Miami Police Officer. These probably are the most difficult cases in which to obtain lawyers to represent the defendants because the attorney wins the enmity of everyone. One lawyer was thrown out of the Shomrim Society, a Jewish law enforcement fraternity or group, of which he had been a member for ten years, because he accepted an appointment to represent a defendant charged with killing a police officer (T. 12- 13).

In the particular case, an attorney was representing one of the defendants. He tried the case. The defendant was convicted of first degree murder and they moved to the second, penalty phase (T. 13). The attorney and the defendant developed irreconcilable differences

and it put Judge **Sorondo** in a very difficult position. There is only so long a jury can be kept out without becoming contaminated, especially in a high publicity case (T. 13-14).

The conviction was in the first week of June, 1994. He set a late September date for the penalty phase, He called Mr. Kassier because he had the experience in capital litigation which enabled him to come in after conviction, familiarize himself with the case, and fully prepare a case for mitigation within the time period, which is what he did. The selection normally would be made from the wheel. He did not make a selection from the wheel because it would give him lawyers who are qualified but some of them take too many cases, He wanted an attorney who would be true to his word, He called Mr. Kassier. He asked him about his schedule. He asked him if he could take the case and prepare it. Mr. Kassier said that he could and he kept his word. The case proceeded as scheduled (T. 14-15). Mr. Kassier had about ninety days to prepare for the sentencing hearing. His work was outstanding (T. 15).

Most defendants convicted of killing police officers in Dade County are sentenced to death. The defendant was sentenced to death (T. 15). The **jury** recommendation was seven to five in favor of death. If it had been six to six it would have been, in essence, a recommendation of life imprisonment (T. 16).

When practicing, he worked with a lot of other attorneys. As a judge, he observed many attorneys. He has sat as a Referee in Bar matters (T. 17). As a Referee, he has made recommendations to the Supreme Court (T. 17). He has discussed this case with Mr. Kassier and his attorney (T, 17-18).

He proffered his view of Mr. Kassier's situation and what should be done.

He has known Mr. Kassier for ten years. He has been called as a circuit judge to testify as a character witness for many people. This is the **first** time that he has agreed to do so (T.22).

There were some grievous errors in judgment and he is not blind to those and he believes that Mr. Kassier must be punished for those errors in judgment (T.23).

There are two sides to the practice of law. There is the noble side, the practice, the scholarship, the advocacy, and there is the dark side, the business of law (T.23). Some are very good at the business side, but Mr. Kassier was not. As unsuccessful as he has been in managing his finances, he has been even more successful in the noble side of the practice, the representation of causes in an expert, efficient manner, advocating the best interests of his clients (T.25). He has been doing that for a long time. That should stand for something (T.25-26).

As he understands the facts of the case, although certainly there was misconduct, there are no aggrieved individuals (T.26). The most egregious violation involves a client, who, although betrayed, does not feel betrayed; who, although betrayed is not vindictive or in any way seeking punishment. He knows that the Bar and the Referee must act, but he believes that if a suspension is in order it should be one of brief duration and one that allows automatic reinstatement (T.26). That ended the proffer.

On cross-examination he testified that probably the last comment he heard about Mr. Kassier was a judge telling him that he had Mr. Kassier in a trial and that it was running

smoothly. That would have been within the last year, probably (T.27).

He does not recall a lengthy philosophical discussion about Mr. Kassier's honesty and integrity, only that another judge said that it was a pleasure to have Mr. Kassier in the courtroom, matters move along, there is no nonsense, objections are validly made, and statements such as that (T.27). He has not reviewed the Bar complaint (T.28).

On redirect he testified that he spoke to Judge Leonard **Glick** about a murder case Mr. Kassier tried before him. That was the time that the other judge told him that the trial was so smooth and so easy because Mr. Kassier and his co-counsel were handling the case.

Circuit Judge Fredericka Smith testified. She worked for Legal Services in Washington, DC, and moved to South Florida in 1968 and worked for Migrant Legal Services here (T.34-35). She also worked with the Legal Services program on the Navajo Reservation in Windowrock, Arizona for a year (T.35). Then she worked in private practice for about five years. She was appointed to the bench in 1980 and has been a circuit judge ever since (T.35). She has sat in all divisions of the circuit court, except probate. She has had a great deal of experience in the criminal division of the circuit court and sits in that division now (T.35).

She has know-n Mr. Kassier for about seven or eight years, professionally (T.36). He has practiced before her (T.36). She has always had the highest regard for him and for his integrity. He is a very competent, professional attorney. That also is his reputation. He has always been extremely competent. He has handled himself in court in the most professional way. He is always polite and totally professional (T.36). She has never heard any negative

comment about him (T.36).

She has sat as Referee in Bar matters at least twice (T.37). She has observed many attorneys (T.37).

She proffered that she has spoken to both Mr. Kassier and his attorney about the nature of the complaint, She talked to Mr. Kassier at length the day before the hearing. He filled her in on the details. She is aware of how this matter arose with the trust account check written with insufficient funds and the examination of the trust account in that he has acknowledged taking money out of the trust account which he wasn't entitled to take and that he put it back before the investigation started. No one was hurt by any of his actions, No one was out of any funds or otherwise injured although there was some complaint that he neglected some work (T.39).

These are serious matters and Mr. Kassier realizes that they are very serious. She knows that he has suffered a lot just contemplating these matters over the last several years (T.40).

She believes that some short suspension may be in order and some probationary period with **strict** controls would also be appropriate. She certainly does not think that any type of long suspension would be needed (T.40).

On cross-examination, she pointed out that Mr. Kassier has acknowledged that he committed the act and that it was wrong. As in any criminal case, she would take into account anything that was relevant in mitigation (T.42). Restitution, especially if it is done voluntarily, is a relevant factor (T.42).

Edith Georgi. testified. She is a senior attorney in the Dade County Public Defender's Office. She has been an Assistant Public Defender for about fifteen years. She is an Adjunct Professor of Law at the University of Miami Law School. She taught at the Chinese University of Hong Kong for two years, at another school in Hong Kong for a year, and at Miami-Dade Community College in the Paralegal Program, and is currently an Adjunct Professor at the University of Miami Law School where she teaches in the Litigation Skills Program and has for about four years (T.48).

She has been an attorney since **1981** and has practiced in the Public Defender's **Office** in Dade County since then. She has represented defendants in every sort of case from misdemeanors to capital charges and has done almost exclusively homicide and capital homicide for about the past six or seven years.

A senior trial attorney is an attorney of senior status who has a hand in the administration of the office, in training of younger lawyers, in crisis management, in advising the Public Defender, and anything else that is necessary (T.49).

She is active in civic affairs. She is a Board Member of the Theodore Gibson Memorial Fund, a unity organization founded in memory of the former Miami City Commissioner and Episcopal Priest who passed away in 1983 (T.49-50). The Gibson Memorial Fund works to bring about harmony among the black, white, and Latin communities in Miami. She has worked with youth groups through that organization (T.49-50). She has served on the Board of Legal Services of Greater Miami for three years (T.50). She was elected to the Coconut Grove Village Council and presently serves there (T.50).

She has served on a Florida Bar Grievance Committee for three years (T.50-5 1).

She has known Mr. Kassier since 1982 or 1983 (T.51). The nature of the Public Defender's Office and the positions that she and Mr. Kassier were in required that they discuss virtually all aspects of the representation of criminal defendants, which included legal, ethical, personal, psychological, and social aspects of the representation (T.52).

Mr. Kassier was an attorney assigned to a regular trial judge, a "pit" lawyer, and rose to training director for all of the felony attorneys (T.52). He also had appellate experience (T.54). He also was a Senior Attorney and was an Assistant Executive Public Defender, which was a new position (T.52). He occupied that position in his **final** years at the Public Defender's **Office** (T.52-53). He also was the link between the Public Defender's **Office** and the various law schools for coordinating the Intern Program (T.53).

Mr. Kassier was held in the highest regard in the Public Defender's **Office**. He provided the highest moral leadership and had the highest integrity (T.53). He was in charge of training forty to sixty lawyers and supervising lawyers with heavy, heavy case loads. He was placed in that position because the Public Defender, Bennett Brummer, had complete trust and confidence in him (T.53).

Mr. Kassier was held in the highest esteem throughout his years in the Public Defender's **Office**. His integrity was never questioned. He was held in the highest esteem in the Public Defender's Office. He was a leader. He was creative. He exemplified everything that public service required of an individual: caring, sincerity, honesty, hard work, integrity. She cannot emphasize that enough (T.54).

There were about 120 attorneys in the Public Defender's **Office** in 1989 and 1990 (T.54). There were about 100 or so secretaries and other support staff then **(T.54)**.

The assistant public defenders have nothing to do with the business aspect of the Public Defender's Office (T.54). They don't keep time records, they don't consider the costs of cases (T.54-55). They do not receive fees from clients (T.55). They do not pay costs. They do not have trust accounts and most of them, including her, do not know what a trust account is. She has never had experience with a trust account (T.55). They are prohibited from doing any private practice which would interfere with their public defender work. Most lawyers are discouraged from any kind of outside practice and most do not have any time for it. Mr. Kassier had no outside practice when he was an assistant public defender (T.55-56).

On cross-examination, she testified that she has had contact with Mr. Kassier on a casual basis since he left the Public Defender's **Office** five years ago. She has seen him at the law school where he has held teaching positions. Sometimes they have discussed Mr. Kassier's serious cases with him (T.56).

On cross-examination, he testified that she had not read the complaint (T.57). She has not had any discussion with a lawyer or judge about Mr. Kassier's integrity since he left the Public Defender's Office (T.57). She may have had a few discussions, just very casual discussions with others (T.57).

On redirect, she testified that when she had these casual discussions the reaction of the **other** people was the same as hers, that this is highly out of character for Mr. Kassier and they were sad and believed that something must have gone on in is personal life because this

was not consistent with his professional reputation or standing (T.58-59).

Circuit Judge Thomas Wilson, Jr., testified by deposition.

Judith Thomas testified. She was in Ashville, North Carolina, and testified by phone (T.62). She could not attend the hearing in person because her son was very ill and she had to take him to a specialist on the day of the hearing, That was the only available time (T.63). She would have attended the hearing in person but for that (T.63). She would have paid her own travel expenses (T.63). She is employed as the office manager at Biltmore Associates in Psychiatry and Psychology in Ashville, North Carolina. She has been there for three years. She has been involved in that type work for ten years (T.63).

She knows Mr. Kassier (T.63). Mr. Kassier represented her in a domestic matter after her divorce was **final** (T.64).

She was satisfied with Mr. Kassier's representation (T.64). The litigation involved money (T.64). Mr. Kassier obtained for her all the money to which she was entitled (T.64).

During the course of Mr. Kassier's representation he held money in trust for her (T.64). During that time she became aware that Mr. Kassier had financial difficulties. She discussed those difficulties with him (T.64). She offered to loan money to Mr. Kassier (T.64-65). She made the offer on two separate occasions (T.65). The offer related to the money he held in trust for her (T.65). She told Mr. Kassier that if he needed the money he could borrow whatever he needed (T.65). He was free to borrow that money (T.65). Mr. Kassier declined the offer (T.65).

She subsequently learned that Mr. Kassier had borrowed the money. That was after

she had received all the money held in **trust** for her. She has received all the money to which she was entitled (T.65).

When she learned that Mr. Kassier had borrowed the money she told him that that was fine, that she had no problem with that (T.65-66). She reminded him on several occasions that she had offered to loan him the money (T.66). She said: "My gosh. I offered it several times. Why didn't you take it?" (T.66).

She was paid all of her money before she knew that the money had been removed (T.67). Mr. Kassier replaced the money in the trust account before she was aware that it had been removed (T.66). She did not know the money had been borrowed from the **trust** account. It did not affect her at all (T.66). The money was replaced in the trust account before she knew that it had been removed (T.67).

She was very shocked when Mr. Kassier spoke to her about the Bar matter (T.67). She did not think that one could get in trouble for doing something like that, especially since she offered him the money (T.67).

She has no complaint whatsoever against Mr. Kassier. Rather, she is very grateful that he helped her obtain some additional money owed to her at the time of the post-decretal matter, an additional \$3,500 (T.67).

On cross-examination, she stated that she authorized Mr. Kassier to borrow whatever money in trust was hers. She could not give him authority to borrow money that was due to her ex-husband (T.68). She had about \$16,000 in trust for her (T.68-69). She was not referring to the \$8,200 that was paid to her husband's attorney (T.69).

On redirect she testified that she offered to loan Mr. Kassier all of the money that he held in trust for her (T.69).

John Hogan testified. He is an attorney. He is the Chief of Staff to the Attorney General of the United States (T. 162). He has been an attorney since 1977 (T. 162). He began his practice as an associate in the litigation department of Shutts & Bowen. He went to the State Attorney's Office in 1979. He became the Chief Assistant State Attorney in 1984. In 1989, he left the State Attorney's Office to become the Statewide Prosecutor (T. 162-163). He returned to the State Attorney's Office in January 1989, as Chief Assistant State Attorney for the felony division. He stayed in that position until June, 1993, when he went to work for the Department of Justice (T. 163).

He has known Mr. Kassier for about ten years, professionally (T. 163-164). He tried one case against Mr. Kassier and had dealings with him, He came to know him (T. 164). Mr. Kassier had an excellent reputation in the legal community for truthfulness, veracity, and integrity. In his dealings with Mr. Hogan he conducted himself consistently with his reputation. He always represented the best tradition of the Bar (T. 164). He has skimmed the complaint, he has not read it in detail (T. 164). He and Mr. Kassier and Mr. Kassier's attorney discussed it (T. 165).

On cross-examination he testified that he left Florida in June, 1993 and has not been a part of the Miami legal community since 1993 (T. 165).

Mr. Kassier testified. He is an attorney and an adjunct professor at the University of Miami Law School. He graduated from the University of Pennsylvania cum *laude*, *in* 1977.

He attended the University of Miami Law School and graduated in 1980 (T.73).

He went with the Public Defender's Office upon his admission to the Bar in 1981 (T.74-75). He had worked as a certified legal intern while in law school at the Public Defender's Office (T.74).

Initially, he worked in the appellate division. He was there from 1978 through 198 1. Then he went to the Juvenile Division and did trial work there to the beginning of 1983 (T.75). Then he went into the felony trial division and was there from 1983 to 1985 (T.75). In that position he handled every type of felony charge imaginable, from relatively minor felonies, third degree felonies with probationary sentences through first degree murder cases involving the death penalty. He was in that position for approximately two years (T.76).

He has participated in the University of Miami Law School's Clinical Program. When he was an Assistant Public Defender from 1985 to 1990, he was in charge of training and supervising all the clinical interns that were assigned to the Public Defender's Office. He entered private practice in 1990 and was hired as the Clinical Field Director for the University of Miami Law School's Litigation Skills Program, He had direct supervision over approximately fifty certified legal interns in all the various locations. They were in the Public Defender's Office, the State Attorney's Office, at Legal Services, and at other places.

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