FILED

STD J. WATHTE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

<u>.</u>

ANDREW MICHAEL ICASSIER,

Respondent.

CLENK, BUPREME COUNT Supreme Court Case Cintik No. 87,617

The Florida Bar Case No. 95-71,003(11A) 95-71,308(11A) 96-70,207(11A)

ANSWER BRIEF AND REPLY BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

1

DEWAYNE K. TERRY Bar Counsel Attorney No. 46809 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) **377-4445**

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel Attorney No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Fl 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Florida Bar reiterates its Statement of the Case and of the Facts as set forth in its Initial Brief. Additional facts necessary to address the Respondent's position will be set forth in the argument portion of this brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee did not err by recommending **at least** a one year suspension and three year probation for Respondent Kassier. The Referee found, and the record supports, that the Respondent misappropriated client funds, passed several worthless checks (including trust account checks), only made partial reimbursement for the checks he issued and the trust monies he used, neglected the cases of two clients, was uncooperative with the Bar investigation, and testified to having reimbursed clients and returned client evidence when, in truth and in fact, that had not been done.

The Respondent claims several mitigating factors to which he is not entitled. A highly experienced criminal trial attorney, who had been in private practice for over four years, he desires mitigation because he was inexperienced in the business of law. He desires credit for having made restitution prior to the Bar proceedings, although full restitution had not been made at the time of the final hearing. He desires mitigation for having personal problems. (The woman from whom he has been separated since 1991 was unhappy with the amount of money he made and the tips he left at dinner; Dade County did not pay him for his court appointed cases quickly enough.) He desires mitigation for

not having a prior disciplinary record, although the Referee found that his misconduct is continuing. He desires mitigation for a cooperative attitude toward the proceedings although the Referee found that he had failed to cooperate with the Bar in its initial proceedings and did not admit any wrongdoing until days before the final hearing. He further desires mitigation for having a good character and reputation although the Referee, who heard the testimony on this issue, declined to find mitigation on this factor (after hearing the cross-examinations and testimony and seeing evidence which indicated otherwise). Finally, he claims mitigation for remorse when the regrets he emphasizes are what he has done to himself and his future - not what he has done to his clients and the legal profession.

This is a case which cries out for disbarment. Respondent Kassier does not qualify for any of the mitigating factors which he seeks to soften the severity of disbarment, which is the presumed punishment for the misuse of client funds. This presumption is bolstered by the many other charges for which the Respondent has been found guilty. He misappropriated client money. He bounced trust account checks. He bounced other business checks. He neglected clients. He failed to communicate with clients. He failed to make complete restitution. He failed

to reimburse the neglected clients. He failed to cooperate with the Bar. He has shown no remorse, only self-pity. He has started no path of reform or rehabilitation. He has stopped the therapy for the problems he seeks to use to excuse his misconduct,

There is no justification and no reasoning which would warrant **a** lessened penalty for this highly experienced attorney. The Referee found him to be a **runaway freight** train who is on a course of conduct which has got to harm the people he comes in contact with on **a** professional basis. This course of conduct continues. The Florida Bar seeks disbarment to protect the public from Respondent Kassier.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR BY RECOMMENDING A DISCIPLINE GREATER THAN A NINETY DAY SUSPENSION (The Bar's Answer)

Although the Respondent would like The Florida Bar y, Cramer, 643 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1994) to control, it does not. He fails to demonstrate its similarity to the situation at Bar. The Respondent in <u>Cramer</u> had a compelling situation; the Court found that he demonstrated substantial mitigating factors. The most significant factor the Court cited was his serious heart problems, which necessitated open heart surgery, put him out of work for five months and then only allowed him to return to work on **a** restricted basis. The Court found that Cramer's heart condition and related medical problems led to many of the problems in his law practice and affected his conduct. In contrast, the Respondent at Bar has made no showing of any medical condition at all. He merely tried to show that his marital problems with **a** woman who he left and from whom he has been separated since 1991 led to his conduct in 1994 and 1995. Interestingly, although he testified that he had been in counseling once **a** week for problems stemming from his marital problems because he and his wife had a running battle about the

tips he left when they went out to dinner and his wife thought that he was a failure because he did not make enough money, he decreased his counseling in 1995 and saw the counselor infrequently (if at all¹) by the time of the final hearing. If these rather common marital quarrels were the cause for Respondent's misconduct, the Bar wonders why Mr. Kassier's therapist was not called to testify on this point.

While both Cramer and Respondent Kassier developed financial problems which resulted in trust accounting irregularities and the issuance of worthless checks, Cramer did not compound those problems by incurring multiple complainants, failing to communicate with clients and keep them informed about the progress of their cases, or neglecting client matters. Respondent Kassier has admitted failing to keep his clients informed and neglecting two client matters. (A-4 p. 4-5). Therefore, while none of Cramer's clients suffered any injury because of his conduct, at the time of the final hearing two of Respondent Kassier's clients were still complaining that their legal matters

¹The Respondent testified at the final hearing that beginning in 1995 he would cancel appointments with his counselor's agreement and then "eventually the period of time between the sessions lengthened to the point where by 1996, I was going every other week and at this point, I <u>Was</u> dealing with her [presumably, his therapist] on an infrequent basis." [emphasis added] (TR 87).

had been neglected and their retainers were not returned². Additionally, one of the clients, Mrs. Lili Harris, testified that she still had not received the photos and receipts which she had given the Respondent at the start of her case.³

Finally, in <u>Cramer</u>, the Respondent cooperated fully with The Florida Bar investigation. Unfortunately, Respondent Kassier did not. The original Bar complaint by Mrs. Lillie M. Harris was closed August 10, 1994, based upon representations by Respondent Kassier that he would take the necessary steps to resolve her complaint. On January 20,1995, Mrs. Harris wrote to inform the Bar that the Respondent still had not taken any steps to resolve the matter. The Bar wrote to the Respondent on February 9, 1995, requesting a response to Mrs. Harris' allegations. The Respondent failed to respond to the February 9, 1995 letter. The

³Despite Respondent's claim to the contrary (see p.37 of Respondent's Initial Brief and Answer Brief), Mrs. Harris testified "I have not received the monies, nor have I received my photos and my receipts that I gave him [Respondent Kassier] when he started the case". (TR 262).

²Although Respondent quotes **as facts** his client's assertions **that** Mrs. Harris had received her money and file back and that Mrs. Potts had received her money back (see p.30, 32 of Respondent's Initial Brief **and** Answer Brief), the recitation of these assertions as facts is disingenuous. The **final** hearing before the Referee in this matter was postponed specifically for the purpose of taking testimony on this issue. When the hearing resumed, Respondent's counsel offered to stipulate that these clients did not receive their money back. (TR259). Then Mrs. Harris (TR 262) and Mrs. Potts (TR 266) testified that the monies still had not been returned. The Referee concluded that, "in truth and in fact, they had not been paid". Even the Respondent finally mentions (much later in his brief) that he offered to make the aforementioned stipulation. (Respondent's Initial Brief and Reply Brief p. 37)

Florida Bar wrote to the Respondent again on March 3, 1995, requesting a response. Mr. Kassier also failed to respond to the second letter. The Florida Bar wrote a third time on March 20, 1995 requesting a response. (A-2 p. 5-6). The Florida Bar also sent Mr. Kassier letters on August 16, 1995 and September 7, 1995 requesting a response to the Bar complaint by Mrs. Letitia Potts. (A-2 p. 77). Mr. Kassier also failed to respond to these inquiries. Additionally, on August 30, 1996 the Referee granted The Florida Bar's Motion for Sanctions for Respondent Kassier's failure to respond to interrogatories and requests to produce subsequent to the filing and granting of a motion to compel, On September 9, 1996, the Respondent withdrew his previously filed responses to The Florida Bar's Requests for Admissions (which mirrored the complaint), thereby admitting the facts and rule violations set forth therein. Finally, although the final hearing started with Mr. Kassier's admission of the allegations of the Complaint and Request for Admissions, making the sole issue the evidence of mitigation, Respondent's counsel still objected to a lack of evidence on allegations in the Complaint

which had been admitted⁴. That is why, contrary to the findings in <u>Cramer</u>, the Referee found aggravation in the Respondent's failure to cooperate with the Bar's preliminary investigation and his failure to acknowledge any wrongdoing until days before the hearing. In fact, even in the final hearing, that acknowledgment was in doubt.

The Respondent claims that several factors listed in Standard 9.3 of the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions apply to his case and justify a reduction in the degree of discipline to be imposed.

First, he claims a right to mitigation based on absence of a prior disciplinary record, Standard 9.32(a), Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. While it may be true that Respondent Kassier had no disciplinary record prior to the case (and multiple complaints at Bar), it should be noted that the Referee found that the Respondent continued even to the time of the final hearing to write checks on accounts in which there were insufficient funds and that the Respondent had testified to

⁴On the issue of funds which were still not accounted for (TR 42); on the issue of whether the two NSF checks made to the clerk of the Court were ever made good (TR 1.53); on the issue of returning the retainer to Mrs. Potts (TR 158-159); justifying his misconduct in the guise of mitigation (TR 149, 154); blaming a secretary he fired (one of the parties complaining about receiving worthless checks) without any proof that she had and/or failed to mail the checks in question (TR 259).

having made restitution to clients who, in truth and in fact, had not been paid at that time. (A-4 p. 6). This factor, which was intended to provide a lesser penalty for isolated instances of misconduct, should not be used as a shield to protect a respondent engaged in a continuing course of misconduct, such as the case at Bar.

Secondly, Respondent Kassier claims a right to mitigation based on his personal or emotional problems, Standard 9.32(c), Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The Respondent claims he is entitled him to this mitigation factor because he had marital problems and he had financial problems because he was not paid quickly enough by Dade County for the work he performed in court appointed cases.

Although Mr. Kassier testified that his wife argued with him about the amount of tips he left in restaurants, thought he did not make enough money, and felt all the sins of the world fell on his shoulders, (TR 109) he failed to present any expert testimony proving the cause and effect relationship between these rather common marital squabbles with a woman he had left in 1991 and his behavior which began in 1994 and continued through the time of

the hearing in 1996, a full five years later.⁵ The Respondent only presented his own testimony as evidence of these alleged problems and their connection to his misdeeds.

Although the Respondent had had similar problems with his wife since his marriage in 1982 and court payments since he entered private practice in 1990, he was able to function well without dipping into his client funds until 1994. He continued to perform well in capital cases during the time the misconduct in question occurred. (TR 14-15). The Court rejected a claim for mitigation for personal problems in <u>The Florida Bar v. Shuminer</u>: 567 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990). The Court emphasized that Shuminer continued to work regularly and effectively during the period in issue; His ability to function at work belied his claim of impairment of judgment during the time that the misappropriations took place.

As the Court stated in <u>The Florida Bar v. Shanzer</u>, 572 So.2d 1382 (Fla. 1991) another case where the Court noted that the Respondent only provided his own unsubstantiated testimony that his marital and financial problems made him misuse client funds:

Respondent argues that his depression, primarily over his marital and economic

⁵See discussion on this point under analysis of <u>Cramer</u>, Page 6.

problems, led him to use his trust account for personal purposes. These problems, unfortunately, **are** visited upon a great number of lawyers. Clearly, we cannot excuse an attorney for dipping into his trust funds as a means of solving personal problems. <u>Shanzer</u> at 1383-1384.

Further, the Court has long explained that, in discipline cases, three purposes must be kept in mind in reaching decisions on the discipline to be imposed:

> First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So.2d 130,132 (Fla. 1970).

If Respondent Kassier is allowed use the payment schedule of court appointed special defenders in Dade County as an excuse in mitigation of his misconduct, it will send the wrong message to the other attorneys on the Dade County appointments wheel.

Respondent Kassier also claims a right to mitigation based on his alleged timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectify consequences of misconduct, Standard 9.32(d), Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. As previously stated, at the time of the final hearing two of Respondent Kassier's clients were still complaining that their legal matters had been neglected and their retainers had not been returned. Although Respondent quotes as facts his assertions that Mrs. Harris had received her money and file back and that Mrs. Potts had received her money back (see p.30, 32 of Respondent's Initial Brief and Answer Brief), the recitation of these assertions as facts is disingenuous.⁶ The final hearing before the Referee in this matter was postponed specifically for the purpose of taking testimony on this issue. During the original hearing, while the Referee still believed that the Respondent had returned the original complainant's money, the Referee stated "obviously you paid it back because of the proceeding, not because you felt -it was a year since the Bar tried to contact you on it".

When the hearing resumed, Respondent's counsel offered to stipulate that these clients did not receive their money back but

⁶ Even the Respondent finally mentions once (much later in his brief) that he offered to stipulate that these clients did not receive their money back. (Respondent's Initial Brief and Reply Brief **p**. 37).

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